**NO. 23-760**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA**

SCA EFiled: Apr 18 2024  
06:23PM EDT  
Transaction ID 72782714

STATOIL USA ONSHORE  
PROPERTIES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

MATTHEW IRBY, West Virginia State  
Tax Commissioner

Respondent.

---

**PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

---

Alexander Macia, Esq. (WV Bar No. 6077)  
Paul G. Papadopoulos, Esq. (WV Bar No. 5570)  
Chelsea E. Thompson, Esq. (WV Bar No. 12565)  
Spilman Thomas & Battle PLLC  
300 Kanawha Boulevard, East  
Charleston, WV 25301  
304-340-3800  
amacia@spilmanlaw.com  
ppapadopoulos@spilmanlaw.com  
cthompson@spilmanlaw.com  
*Counsel for Petitioner*  
*Equinor USA Onshore Properties Inc. formerly

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

**Assignment of Error 1:** The Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia (“ICA”) erred when it reversed the May 5, 2022 decision of the West Virginia Office of Tax Appeals (“WVOTA”) titled “Order Upon Remand Denying Tax Commissioner’s Motion to Dismiss” in which the WVOTA denied Respondent’s motion to dismiss on the grounds of equitable estoppel.

**Assignment of Error 2:** The ICA erred when it failed to apply the holding of, and/or apply the appropriate persuasive authority of, *Hudkins v. State Consolidated Public Retirement Board*, 220 W.Va. 275, 674 S.E.2d 711 (2007) to this case.

**Assignment of Error 3:** The ICA erred when it concluded that Equinor USA Onshore Properties Inc., formerly known as Statoil USA Onshore Properties Inc. (“Equinor”) had to prove, and failed to prove, affirmative misconduct or wrongful conduct by Respondent in this case.

**Assignment of Error 4:** The ICA erred when it concluded that equitable estoppel principles had not been applied to tax disputes “on facts more compelling than those in this case.”

**Assignment of Error 5:** The ICA erred when it considered the “sophistication” of Equinor as part of equitable estoppel.

**Assignment of Error 6:** The ICA erred when it concluded that Equinor “mistakenly” relied upon advice of Respondent.

**Assignment of Error 7:** The ICA erred when it categorized Respondent’s Assistant Director of Tax Account Administration as simply a “Tax Department employee” and not a high-ranking representative of Respondent with authority, who was very familiar with the matter at hand and upon whose word Equinor had reason to rely.

**Assignment of Error 8:** The ICA erred when it created a new legal standard that is impossible for a taxpayer to satisfy.

**Assignment of Error 9:** The ICA erred because its decision creates conflict between the statutes and regulations governing the deadline for filing an appeal and the required contents for such an appeal.

**Assignment of Error 10:** The ICA erred when it failed to find that Equinor’s appeal was timely because it was filed within sixty days of February 27, 2020, which was when Respondent issued Equinor the last refund check for the tax year at issue.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The ICA erred by reversing a May 5, 2022 WVOTA decision titled “Order Upon Remand Denying Tax Commissioner’s Motion to Dismiss” in which the WVOTA denied Respondent’s motion to dismiss on the grounds of equitable estoppel.

Equinor is a natural gas producer with operations across the United States, including West Virginia. D.R.0025-26 at ¶¶ 2-5. Through its production of natural gas, Equinor has contributed significant value to West Virginia’s economy through job creation, infrastructure development, and the payment of taxes. For example, in the 2015 tax year at issue, Equinor has already paid \$6,735,784 in severance taxes and is seeking a refund of overpaid amounts totaling \$708,438.95 that was denied. *See* D.R.0044-47 (2015 tax document showing taxes paid to date); D.R.342-49 (petition for reassessment listing amount in controversy); D.R.0351 (refund denial letter).

This case arises from Respondent’s improper denial of Equinor’s request for a refund of overpaid severance taxes on natural gas and natural gas liquids in 2015. On June 28, 2018, Equinor filed an Amended Severance Tax Return for tax year 2015, in which Equinor requested a refund of \$4,837,548.01 (“Refund Request”). D.R.0361. On January 23, 2019, Respondent sent a refund denial letter to Equinor, notifying Equinor that the Refund Request would be decreased by \$2,216,115.02 (“First Denial”). D.R. 0338. In response to the receipt of this First Denial letter,

Equinor’s representatives contacted Respondent to discuss errors in the calculation of the refund reduction. D.R. 0088. Ms. Stacy Acree—the then Assistant Director for the Tax Account Administration—agreed that the reduction was not calculated correctly and emailed Equinor’s representative stating that Respondent would be “pulling the refund back” while the mathematical/accounting errors were further explored. D.R. 0317. Accordingly, Respondent withdrew the First Denial and issued a second refund denial letter on February 27, 2019, which amended the decrease in the refund to \$1,551,988.68 (“Second Denial”). D.R. 0335. Equinor reviewed the Second Denial and soon concluded it, too, contained a mathematical error. D.R. 0308.

The next day, February 28, 2019, Equinor’s representatives again contacted Respondent regarding a mathematical error contained within the Second Denial and requested Respondent to provide a final refund amount that Equinor could appeal. D.R.0308-309; D.R.0245-247. Ms. Acree indicated to Equinor’s representatives that the mathematical error would be reconciled and that a subsequent third, and final, refund denial letter would be issued.<sup>1</sup> D.R.0308-309; D.R.0245-247. This reconciliation would provide Equinor with a “good number” that it could then appeal to the WVOTA. D.R.0112; D.R.0246 (we were all trying to get to the final number to get a new letter reissued to appeal”). Ms. Acree assigned the review of the mathematical error to an audit clerk, and based on the audit clerk’s findings, Respondent issued a refund check on March 3, 2019, in the amount of \$3,285,559.33 in accordance with the Second Denial. D.R.0089. Tragically, the clerk assigned to review the error fell ill and passed away in the fall of 2019. D.R.0308. Despite numerous requests from Equinor for an update, Respondent failed to undertake the review of the mathematical error until January 2020. D.R.0308-309. On February 27, 2020, Ms. Acree, agreeing

---

<sup>1</sup> Note, at the hearing before the WVOTA, Ms. Acree testified that “she could not recall if [Equinor’s representative] was assured a third letter would be issued.” D.R. 0089. WVOTA determined, as a finding of fact, that Equinor’s representative was told by Ms. Acree that a third refund denial letter would be issued.

that a mathematical error existed in the Second Denial, directed an employee to make an additional refund payment of \$23,671.54 to Equinor. D.R.0306; D.R.0323. Ms. Acree copied Equinor's representative an email on the February 27, 2020 email dictating Respondent issue that check, as the apparent notification of the new refund payment. *Id.* However, no third denial letter was ever delivered to Equinor, as promised. Therefore, upon receipt of the new refund check and Respondent's refusal to issue the promised third denial letter, on April 7, 2020, Equinor filed a Petition for Reassessment with the WVOTA challenging the remaining denied amount; notably, the petition (OTA Form 1 April '03) filed by Equinor mandates the disclosure of the amount in controversy, which was an amount Equinor could not provide until the reconciliation of Respondent's mathematical errors. D.R.0089-0090; D.R.0342.

On appeal before the WVOTA, Respondent moved to dismiss the action, asserting that the WVOTA lacked jurisdiction over the Refund Request appeal because Equinor did not appeal within 60 days of the receipt of the Second Denial. D.R.0327; D.R.0330. After a hearing and briefing by the parties, WVOTA agreed that Respondent "could be equitably estopped" from challenging WVOTA's jurisdiction over the Refund Request appeal. D.R.0119; D.R.0149-0160 (Petitioner's Supplement on Issue of Equitable Estoppel); D.R.0163-0187 (Respondent's Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss); D.R.0284-0325 (Petitioner's Opposition to Motion to Dismiss with exhibits). However, the WVOTA's analysis did not end with the traditional elements of equitable estoppel—and after applying the WVOTA's own interpretation of this Court's precedent, which required an additional showing of "affirmative misconduct or wrongful conduct" by Respondent, the WVOTA granted Respondent's motion to dismiss. D.R.0122.

Equinor timely appealed to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia. D.R.0718-723 (Petition for Administrative Appeal from Decision of West Virginia Office of Tax

Appeal). The parties briefed the Circuit Court. D.R.0661-674 (Petitioner’s Brief); D.R.0679-699 (West Virginia State Tax Department’s Response Brief); D.R.0700-714 (Petitioner’s Reply to West Virginia State Tax Department’s Response Brief). After a review of the briefs and applicable case law, the Circuit Court held that the WVOTA had applied the wrong legal standard because a taxpayer need not prove affirmative misconduct or wrongful conduct to equitably estop Respondent. D.R.0095. The Circuit Court remanded the decision back to the WVOTA with instructions to use the proper legal standard. *Id.* Accordingly, the WVOTA issued a second order titled “Order Upon Remand Denying Tax Commissioner’s Motion to Dismiss” in which it denied Respondent’s motion to dismiss on May 5, 2022, on the ground of equitable estoppel, finding Equinor had met all the elements of the proper legal standard. D.R.0079-81.

The appeal to the WVOTA continued, which resulted in a final decision denying Equinor’s request for a refund. D.R. 0024-39. Equinor appealed the final decision to the ICA regarding the denial of the Refund Request appeal, and Respondent filed a cross-assignment of error as to the WVOTA’s denial of its motion to dismiss. D.R.0009-23. The parties briefed all issues. D.R.0440-482 (Petitioner’s Brief); D.R.0483-527 (Respondent’s Brief and Cross-Assignment of Error); D.R.0528-576 (Petitioner’s Reply & Response in Opposition to Cross-Appeal); D.R.0392-393 (Supplemental Authority Letter of Petitioner); D.R.0394-420 (Supplemental Authority Letter of Respondent). On November 15, 2023, the ICA issued its decision in favor of Equinor as to its refund and severance tax calculations, but found in favor of Respondent in regards to the challenge associated with the Refund Request appeal. D.R.369-391. In other words, the ICA determined Equinor’s appeal of the Refund Request was statutorily time-barred. *Id.* This appeal challenges that narrow portion of the ICA’s decision.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

To begin, we must clarify the relief Equinor is seeking. Equinor is not seeking an extension or modification of a jurisdictional deadline. It instead seeks an order confirming that its appeal for the 2015 tax year is timely because it was filed within sixty (60) days of Respondent issuing Equinor the last tax refund check for that tax year. In the alternative, Equinor’s appeal was timely because the principle of equitable estoppel applies to prevent Respondent from asserting that 60-day deadline, as Equinor relied upon Respondent’s promises of future denial letter that would restart that proverbial clock, which never came to pass. In doing so, Equinor is not applying a radical new concept—courts in this state have previously applied equitable estoppel to the government and to tax cases, and it is under this precedent that Equinor seeks relief. Equinor is not advocating for a radical shift in precedent or a new claim of equitable principles; just a straightforward application of existing law to the rather extraordinary facts of this case.

The ICA, however, failed to apply this precedent or properly weigh those facts, choosing instead to create a new, much more stringent standard by which equitable estoppel would apply to Respondent only if the taxpayer could prove the government committed affirmative misconduct or wrongful conduct. The ICA applied this new standard to Equinor and summarily found it lacking, despite never actually comparing the facts of any prior cases to the case at bar. The ICA also disregarded the fact that Equinor had already met the traditional elements of equitable estoppel found in the precedent (which is acknowledged by the Circuit Court of Kanawha County and WVOTA in their decisions below). In doing so, the ICA created an impossible new legal standard that does not provide taxpayers with a meaningful claim of equitable estoppel, as even the WVOTA has openly stated that this “affirmative misconduct or wrongful conduct” standard can *never* be met. For these reasons, and other listed below, the ICA erred when it overturned the

WVOTA's decision made May 5, 2022, which equitably estopped Respondent from asserting the 60-day deadline on appeals.

### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Equinor requests Rule 20 oral argument as this appeal presents issues of first impression and cases involving issues of fundamental public importance regarding when equitable estoppel is appropriate against the government and when notice of denial of refund to a taxpayer is sufficient to start the taxpayer's appeal deadline.

### **ARGUMENT**

Equinor provides the following legal argument in support of its appeal, all of which leads to a single conclusion: The ICA erred and abused its discretion in applying the principle of equitable estoppel to the undisputed facts of this case, and erred when it overturned the WVOTA's order dated May 5, 2022.

#### **I. Jurisdiction**

Pursuant to W.Va. Code § 29A-6-1 and W.Va. Code § 51-11-10 the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has jurisdiction over this matter as it is an appeal of a final decision of the ICA that was entered after June 30, 2022.

#### **II. Standard of Review**

This Court has outlined the standard of review applicable to this case as follows:

In an administrative appeal from the decision of the West Virginia Office of Tax Appeals, this Court will review the final order of the circuit court pursuant to the standards of review in the State Administrative Procedures Act set forth in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g) [1988]. Findings of fact of the administrative law judge will not be set aside or vacated unless clearly wrong, and, although administrative interpretation of State tax provisions will be afforded sound discretion, this Court will review questions of law *de novo*. West Virginia Code § 29A-5-4(g) provides, in relation to the circuit court's review:

The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions decision or order are:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or
- (4) Affected by other error of law; or
- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Further, “[t]he ‘clearly wrong’ and the ‘arbitrary and capricious’ standards of review are deferential ones which presume an agency’s actions are valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis.” Syl. Pt. 3, *In re Queen*, 196 W. Va. 442, 473 S.E.2d 483 (1996).

### **III. The ICA Failed to Address Whether Equinor Received Statutorily Sufficient Notice of Denial of Refund Request**

We begin, as we must, with the applicable statute, which states that an appeal of a tax assessment to the WVOTA must be filed within sixty (60) days “after the taxpayer is served with notice of denial of taxpayer’s claim.” *See* W. Va. Code § 11-10-14(d)(1). Thus, the threshold issues are: (a) whether Equinor received notice of the denial of the Refund Request sufficient to satisfy the statute, and (b) when that notice occurred. To be clear, there is no rule, regulation, or decision that requires the “notice” to come in the form of Respondent’s standard denial letter form. Despite Equinor laying out its position on this issue in its brief, see D.R.0541, the ICA erred by not addressing it, despite it being dispositive.

Equinor argues that the notice referenced in the statute occurred on February 27, 2020, when Respondent issued to Equinor the second, and final, refund check for that 2015 tax year.

D.R.0323. On that same date, Respondent notified Equinor of the refund check via email. *Id.* Prior to that check being issued or email being sent, the amount of Equinor's refund remained undetermined. It was only with that last refund check that Respondent made its final decisions as to whether Equinor's requested refund would be granted or denied, and in what amounts. Thus, the operative and final "notice of denial of taxpayer's claim" occurred with the February 27, 2020 refund check and email. Equinor filed its appeal to the WVOTA on April 7, 2020, which is undisputedly less than sixty (60) days after February 27, 2020. D.R.0089-90. Thus, under the express wording of the statute, Equinor's appeal was timely. This resolves the entire issue of timeliness, without the need of any equitable principles, in Equinor's favor. The ICA's failure to acknowledge this argument or address the statutory notice provisions was in error and constitutes an abuse of discretion.

Respondent urges that the operative "notice" occurred when the Second Denial was sent, making February 27, 2019 the date upon which the deadline began to run. D.R.0335. However, Respondent does not explain how or why notice must be in the form of its form denial letter when the statute makes no such requirement that notice be in any particular form, or why the Second Denial is operative when it undisputedly contained false and incorrect refund information.

Critically, Respondent's actions and subsequent words also indicated that the mere delivery of the standard denial letter does not constitute "notice" for the purposes of this statute. Respondent, upon learning of the defects and incorrect calculations in the First Denial, withdrew it and issued the Second Denial, which too suffered from defects. D.R.0246. If "notice," *i.e.*, receipt of a form denial letter, was the sole statutory requirement, then there would not have been any need for Respondent to issue the Second Denial—yet it did. Furthermore, there would be no need for a third denial letter—yet Respondent promised one to Equinor.

Ultimately, Respondent chose to send an email to Equinor's representative in February 2020 notifying them of the new refund check, instead of a third form letter. D.R.0323. The fact that notification was sent through this email and/or the receipt of a new refund check, and not a form denial letter, is not dispositive under the wording of the statute. What is dispositive, however, is the fact that the February 2020 email and refund check notified Equinor, once and for all, of the final amount of its refund for tax year 2015.

Accordingly, Respondent's position that statutory notice occurred with the Second Denial is not supported by the statute, the facts, or its own actions in this case. In contrast, Equinor's position is well grounded in the facts, statute, and common sense. Its appeal was filed less than sixty (60) days after it was notified on February 27, 2020, of Respondent's final determination as to Equinor's refund for tax year 2015. Equinor's appeal is timely, and this case resolve in its favor.

**IV. The ICA's Ruling Creates a Conflict Between the Timeliness and Content Provisions of the Underlying Statute as to What is Required for a Petition for Reassessment or Refund.**

In an attempt to prevent Equinor's appeal, Respondent asserts an earlier notice deadline, specifically the Second Denial letter sent February 27, 2019. D.R.0335. This argument is flawed factually and legally, as explained above, and creates an unnecessary and impermissible conflict between the timeliness and content provisions of the state tax code.

As has been often quoted throughout this case's history, West Virginia Code § 11-10-14 outlines when a petitioner may challenge the denial of a refund: "That no petition for refund or credit may be filed more than 60 days after the taxpayer is served with notice of denial of taxpayer's claim . . ." W.Va. Code § 11-10-14(d)(1). This is similarly echoed in the WVOTA's authorizing statute: "Except where a different time for filing a petition is specified elsewhere in this code, a petition filed pursuant to subsection (a) of this section is timely filed if postmarked or

hand delivered to the Office of Tax Appeals within sixty (60) days of the date a person received written notice of an assessment, denial of a refund or credit, order or other decision of the Tax Commissioner.” W.Va. Code §11-10A-9. The First Denial, which was withdrawn, and the Second Denial contained language reiterating this sixty-day deadline. DR0335; D.R.0338. Presumably, the third denial letter (that was promised but never arrived) would have contained the same language. Interestingly, the February 2020 email from Ms. Acree that notified Equinor of the final refund check for the 2015 tax year did not contain this language. D.R.0323.

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