IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jun 03 2024
02:34PM EDT
Transaction ID 73293085

NO. 23-760

STATOIL USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES, INC.

Petitioner Below, Petitioner,

v.

MATTHEW R. IRBY, STATE TAX COMMISSIONER OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent Below, Respondent,

On Appeal from the Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia, No. 22-ICA-225

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

Sean M. Whelan (WV Bar No. 12067)

Deputy Attorney General

Seth E. Harper (WV Bar No. 10244)

Assistant Attorney General

State Capitol Complex

1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East

Building 1, Room W-435

Charleston, West Virginia 25305

Telephone: 304-558-2522

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The ICA’s opinion in 22-ICA-225 should be affirmed and each of Equinor’s ten related assignments of errors should be rejected.

I. Equinor’s 2015 petition to OTA was late. Its petition was filed more than eleven months after the sixty-day deadline set out in West Virginia Code Section 11-10-14(d)(1) and 11-10A-9(b). That lateness deprived OTA of jurisdiction and mandated dismissal under the statute’s plain text and this Court’s established precedent. Although Equinor seemed to concede untimeliness below and all prior tribunals treated this issue as undisputed, it now argues that its deadline shouldn’t run from the last formal refund denial it received—but from the date of its last refund check and the email confirming it. But the formal denial letter contained all the hallmarks of proper statutory notice: it notified Equinor of the substance of the Tax Commissioner’s refund denial, it advised the taxpayer of its appeal rights, and it was delivered by official means through United States mail. That’s why this Court’s previous decisions treated the Tax Commissioner’s formal notice letters as the trigger for OTA petitions. This Court should do the same here, too, and it should reject Equinor’s attempt to start its deadline from the date of its last refund check. Neither

the last check nor the email confirming its delivery count as the written notice of a refund denial from which Equinor should've timely appealed. It should've appealed the refund denial on time and didn't. Its petition was late. Thus, this Court should reject Equinor's Assignment of Error 10.

II. Equinor's attempt in Assignment of Error 9 to sow conflict into statutory text this Court has described as "unambiguously" setting a sixty-day deadline, *Panhandle Used Equip., LLC v. Matkovich*, No. 15-230, 2016 WL 1417785, *3 (Apr. 8, 2016) (mem. decision), should also be rejected. Equinor says enforcing this deadline from the date of the formal refund denial letter creates a conflict with statutes and rules governing the contents of its petition. But it can't use statutes related to the content of OTA petitions to create ambiguity in an otherwise clear statute on their timeliness. Courts don't read statutes in conflict that deal with different issues. Plus, the deadline statute and the content statutes and rules are easily reconcilable—as common sense and the record below demonstrate. Furthermore, even if they weren't, none of the canons of construction would force the deadline statute to recede. It is later in time and more specific. Plus, statutes trump procedural rules, anyway. Equinor can't avoid the sixty-day deadline by inventing a statutory conflict.

III. Equitable estoppel principles don't excuse Equinor's late filing, either. The ICA correctly found that the sixty-day filing deadline is statutory and jurisdictional, and that equitable estoppel couldn't "expand OTA's jurisdiction" beyond its statutory limits. *Statoil*, 249 W. Va. --, 895 S.E.2d at 836. The ICA also recognized that this Court's decisions have rejected every attempt to extend this sixty-day deadline on estoppel grounds and that *Hudkins* was a fact-specific case inapplicable here. For similar reasons, the ICA was right to consider Equinor's sophistication in its equity evaluation—multiple decisions from this Court say this is a factor. It was also right to set a high bar for estoppel claims against the government: this Court and federal courts have

established a similarly difficult standard. And the ICA correctly found that Equinor failed to meet that bar. In fact, Equinor can't even meet the traditional elements for estopping private parties—much less the more difficult burden of proving estoppel against the government. Equinor can't blame the Tax Commissioner for its unreasonable and mistaken failure to preserve its 2015 appeal. Each of Equinor's first eight assignments of error should be rejected, and this Court should affirm the ICA's decision in Appeal No. 22-ICA-225.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is unnecessary, and a memorandum decision affirming the ruling below is appropriate, *see* W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a) & 21, because this Court has used that type of decision to reject substantially similar arguments for extending the same statutory deadline.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The “jurisdictional issues” raised in this appeal “are questions of law” subject to “*de novo*” review. *State ex rel. Univ. Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Wilson*, 239 W. Va. 338, 343, 801 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2017). A lower court’s application of “equitable principles” are reviewed for “abuse of discretion.” *Helton v. Reed*, 219 W. Va. 557, 560, 638 S.E.2d 160, 163 (2006). Otherwise, this Court reviews a lower court’s reversal of a decision from OTA under the standards set out in the Administrative Procedures Act, W. VA. CODE § 29A-5-4g (1988). *See* syl. pt. 1, *Griffith v. ConAgra Brands, Inc.*, 229 W. Va. 190, 191, 728 S.E.2d 74, 75 (2012). OTA’s findings of fact should “not be set aside or vacated unless clearly wrong.” *Id.* OTA’s “interpretation of State tax provisions” are “afforded sound consideration,” *id.*, and “given great weight unless clearly erroneous.” Syl. pt. 2, *Keener v. Irby*, 245 W. Va. 777, 778, 865 S.E.2d 519, 520 (2021). The Tax Commissioner’s interpretation and application of tax laws also receive deference unless his position “is arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute.” *Steager v. Consol Energy, Inc.*, 242 W. Va. 209, 223, 832 S.E.2d 135, 149 (2019) (cleaned up).

ARGUMENT

The ICA’s decision to direct the dismissal of Equinor’s 2015 case in Appeal No. 22-ICA-225 should be affirmed because Equinor filed its petition to OTA eleven months beyond the statutory sixty-day deadline in West Virginia Code Sections 11-10-14(d) and 11-10A-9(b). That deprived OTA of jurisdiction. Neither the statutory conflict Equinor tries to invent nor the equitable estoppel principles it advocates for justify extending that deadline.

I. Equinor Missed OTA’s Statutory Sixty-Day Jurisdictional Petition Deadline.

Equinor was over eleven months late filing its 2015 OTA petition—as OTA and both lower courts agreed. It should’ve filed within sixty-days of receiving the second refund denial letter. None of the reasons it now gives for starting the sixty-day clock when it received the last refund check work. Equinor’s Assignment of Error 10 and related arguments should be rejected.

A. The filing deadline Equinor missed is clear, statutory, and jurisdictional.

The ICA was right that “the Legislature intended to impose strict jurisdictional deadlines in connection with tax refund claims.” *Statoil*, 249 W. Va. --, 895 S.E.2d at 835. Even Equinor admits as much. Petr’s Br. 25 (“Equinor agrees . . . that the legislature “intended to impose [a] strict jurisdictional deadline.””). That’s no surprise either: the Code “unambiguously provides that petitions” to OTA “must be filed within sixty days of receipt of the assessment.” *Panhandle*, 2016 WL 1417785, *3. The time allowed for petitioning a refund denial is the same. “[N]o petition for refund or credit may be filed more than 60 days after the taxpayer is served with notice of denial of taxpayer’s claim.” W. VA. CODE § 11-10-14(d) (2019). If that wasn’t enough, the Legislature repeated that deadline in OTA’s governing statutes. These say that “[a] proceeding before” OTA appealing “a denial of a tax refund . . . shall be initiated by a person timely filing a written petition.” *Id.* § 11-10A-9(a) (2005). And it defines “a petition” as “timely filed if postmarked or hand

delivered to” OTA “within sixty days of the date [a] person received written notice of a[] . . . denial of a refund or credit, order or other decision of the Tax Commissioner.” *Id.* § 11-10A-9(b).

What’s more, this Court has treated similar “statutory-imposed deadlines” for “perfect[ing] an appeal” in tax cases “as jurisdictional.” *Solution One Mortg., LLC v. Helton*, 216 W. Va. 740, 743, 613 S.E.2d 601, 604 (2005) (per curiam) (related to appeal bond deadline). That’s why “[a] taxpayer’s failure to abide by the express procedures established for challenging a decision of the West Virginia State Tax Commissioner” including those “enunciated in West Virginia Code § 11-10-14(c) and (d) (1995), precludes the taxpayer’s claim for refund or credit.” Syl. pt. 1, *Bradley v. Williams*, 195 W. Va. 180, 181, 465 S.E.2d 180, 181 (1995).

Equinor’s April 7, 2020, petition was filed almost a year late. D.R.342. The Tax Commissioner issued his decision to disapprove “marketing, demand and administrative fees,” the “15% safe harbor,” and the related refund request on February 27, 2019. D.R.347. Equinor received a copy via certified mail on March 4, 2019, D.R.330. If it wanted to challenge that decision it should’ve filed its petition to OTA no later than May 3, 2019. It didn’t. Instead, it waited nearly a year beyond the statutory deadline.

That’s why the lower courts and OTA all agreed that Equinor missed its filing deadline. OTA treated that conclusion as a given—finding that the only issue left to decided was whether estoppel could save that late filing. D.R.113. Similarly, the circuit court found it “undisputed that Equinor’s appeal of the February 27, 2019, Second Refund Decrease Letter to OTA was untimely.” D.R.90. The ICA found the same thing—agreeing with the Tax Commissioner that “Equinor’s 2015 tax year petition [was] filed nearly 11 months after the 60-day statutory deadline expired,” *Statoil*, 249 W. Va. --, 895 S.E.2d at 834, and it characterized Equinor’s petition as “facially untimely,” *id.* at 831. Even Equinor seemed to admit as much at the ICA. It told that court it

“undisputedly missed” “the statutory deadline for appeal.” D.R.540. And it characterized the Tax Commissioner’s whole discussion of “the statutory deadline” as “frankly, irrelevant” and “not” worthy of even “address[ing],” D.R.541, because the filing deadline at OTA was so plainly missed.

B. The second refund denial letter gave Equinor adequate notice of the Tax Commissioner’s position and its appeal deadline.

Yet, Equinor now says it didn’t miss the filing deadline at all. And it blames the ICA for not addressing two arguments it thinks dispository show that. Petr’s Br. 11. *First*, it says the February 27, 2019, refund denial letter didn’t give it sufficient notice to file its petition; and *second*, it thinks its sixty-day deadline didn’t start until Ms. Acree’s email confirmed delivery of the last refund check. Petr’s Br. 11-12. But even setting aside whether Equinor properly raised these arguments in the half-sentence it cites from its ICA reply, D.R.541, neither argument has merit.

To be sure, “[a]dequate notice” is a basic prerequisite for “administrative” actions. *W. Va. Nonintoxicating Beer Comm’r v. A & H Tavern*, 181 W. Va. 364, 368, 382 S.E.2d 558, 562 (1989). This requirement is grounded in “basic rules of fairness” and constitutional mandates that the public be “informed of the possible consequences of government action.” *Lee Trace, LLC v. Raynes*, 232 W. Va. 183, 190, 751 S.E.2d 703, 710 (2013). The Code requires that the Tax Commissioner “notify the taxpayer in writing of his . . . determination” on a refund claim. W. VA. CODE § 11-10-14(c). The notice must explain the “substance” of his action “with sufficient certainty” to allow the public to respond. *McJunkin Corp. v. W. Va. Human Rights Comm’n*, 179 W. Va. 417, 420-21, 369 S.E.2d 720, 723-24 (1988). Taxpayers also need to “be sufficiently alerted to [their] appeal rights” in the notice. *Penn Va. Operating Co., LLC v. Yokum*, 242 W. Va. 116, 122 S.E.2d 747, 753 (2019) (cleaned up).

The Tax Commissioner’s second refund denial letter met all these standards. It was “in writing,” and stated the substance of the Tax Commissioner’s “determin[ation]” on Equinor’s

refund claim. W. VA. CODE § 11-10-14(c). It said he was “denying marketing, demand fees and administrative fees” as a deduction as well as “the 15% safe harbor.” D.R.304. The letter notified Equinor that the \$4.8 million refund it requested was substantially decreased because of that decision. D.R.304. It also told Equinor to “file a petition for reassessment with” OTA “within sixty (60) days from receipt of this letter” or “the decreased overpayment shall become conclusive.” D.R.304. And there’s no question that Equinor received this February 27, 2019, notice: Mr. Gaytan called the Tax Division about it the next day, D.R.111, and Equinor received a copy via certified mail on March 4, 2019, D.R.330.

Yes, the refund amount in the second letter was short a little over \$23,000. D.R.112. And that amount wasn’t sent to Equinor until a year later. D.R.323. But an agency’s notice doesn’t have to be mistake-free. In fact, it doesn’t even need to “meet the” notice pleading “standards applicable in a judicial proceeding.” *Cf. McJunkin*, 179 W. Va. at 421, 369 S.E.2d at 724 (related to notice in Human Rights Act complaint). It just needs to be “adequate.” *Id.* And the second letter plainly met that adequacy standard. The later correction of this \$23,000 mathematical error didn’t alter anything in the substance or rationale of the Tax Commissioner’s refund determination. And it didn’t bar Equinor from challenging that substance at OTA. If anything, Equinor could’ve listed this math error as another ground for its petition.

Likewise, the fact that the Tax Commissioner issued a first refund denial, D.R.338, and replaced it with a second one, D.R.335, doesn’t change the effectiveness of the second notice. For one, no one disputes that Equinor could’ve filed a petition on the first refund denial, too. D.R.204. But that petition turned out unnecessary (and would’ve likely been found moot) because the second letter was issued thirty-five days after the first. *Cf. Cooper v. City of Charleston*, 218 W. Va. 279, 288, 624 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2005) (procedural challenge to enactment of city ordinance rendered

moot by “re-publication and re-enactment”). Well before the sixty-day deadline for the first letter had run, the second one had already replaced it.

But that doesn’t excuse Equinor’s failure to timely appeal the second letter. That second letter was “sufficiently detailed to” inform Equinor of the Tax Commissioner’s substantive position, *Pritchard v. Catterson*, 184 W. Va. 542, 548, 401 S.E.2d 475, 481 (1990), it “sufficiently alerted [Equinor] to [its] appeal rights, *Penn Va.*, 242 W. Va. at 122, 829 S.E.2d at 753, and gave Equinor the “opportunity to prepare” its response, *A & H Tavern*, 181 W. Va. at 368, 382 S.E.2d at 562. The second refund denial letter gave Equinor adequate notice. And Equinor should’ve filed its petition to OTA within sixty-days of that notice if it wanted to preserve its 2015 refund claim.

C. Equinor can’t track its appeal deadline from a Tax Division employee’s email.

Equinor also can’t treat Ms. Acree’s February 27, 2020, email—that confirmed the delivery of the last refund check for 2015—as the “notice” from which to appeal. Petr’s Br. 12-13. For one thing, the sixty-day appeal window runs from the written “notice of denial of taxpayer’s claim,” W. VA. CODE § 11-10-14(d)(1), and neither Ms. Acree’s email nor the refund check *denied* Equinor anything. These communications alerted Equinor to a *grant* of an additional \$23,000—that’s all. D.R.323. So, there was no “denial” in the email or check for Equinor to appeal.

For another, Ms. Acree’s email isn’t the type of communication that counts as an official notice of the Tax Commissioner’s refund determination—nor did it purport to be. Yes, an email may be a “writing” under Section 11-10-14(c), but other parts of the Code force agencies to communicate their official positions by different means. The Administrative Procedures Act, for example, directs that agencies “shall” give “notice” of their actions “by personal delivery . . . or by depositing such notice in the United States mail” “unless a different method of giving such notice is otherwise expressly permitted or prescribed.” W. VA. CODE § 29A-7-2.

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